IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,264

Florida Bar No: 184170

AIU INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Petitioner,

### INTRODUCTION

The Appellant AIU Insurance Company will be referred to as a AIU or Petitioner.

The Respondent Block Marina Investments d/b/a Florida Yacht Basin will be referred to as Block or Appellee.

The Intervenor Norfolk Marine Company will be referred to as Norfolk.

The Record on Appeal will be designated by the letter "R".

All emphasis in the Brief is that of the writer unless otherwise indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE

The Third District Opinion below has erroneously held that the legislature intended by Section 627.426(2) to create coverage under a liability insurance policy that did not provide that coverage. In the present case the insured initially had the coverage, but had cancelled it because the premium was too high. It is respectfully submitted that the Fifth District Court of Appeal has correctly interpreted the legislative intent in <u>USF&G</u> v. American Fire, <u>infra</u> and the Opinion below which is in conflict with the American Fire case must be reversed.

It is undisputed that prior to the adoption of Section 627.426(2) insurance coverage could not be <u>created</u> under the principles of waiver and estoppel and there is no indication whatsoever that the legislature intended to overrule this well established principle. To apply the statute, as construed by the Third District, would result in a constitutional impairment of contracts since the Third District's interpretation of the statute has changed the basic substantive rights of the parties to the insurance contract, which is impermissible. As the Fifth District has correctly stated, an insurer does not assert a "coverage defense" when there is no coverage in the first place and the Third District's Opinion, holding AIU strictly liable for coverage, must be reversed and a Summary Judgment entered for AIU.

Even if this Court should agree with the Third District's interpretation of the statute and its application in this case, the Opinion below states that there is a disputed issue as to

whether the policy provided coverage for the loss. Therefore the Summary Judgment in favor of Block Marina must be reversed for a fact finding.

Block Marina obtained a comprehensive liability policy with a marina operators legal liability endorsement, which provided bailment insurance. The comprehensive general liability insurance policy in force explicitly exempted bailment losses from coverage:

## Exclusions

This insurance does not apply: ... (K) to property damage to ... (3) property in the care, custody, or control of the insured or as to which the insured is for any purpose exercising physical control...

The effective date of the insurance policy was from June 1983 through June 4, 1986. However in 1984 the marina operators legal liability endorsement was voluntarily eliminated from the policy by Block Marina effective June 4, 1984, when there was a premium increase for the coverage.

Because of the exclusionary provision in the general comprehensive liability policy, in order to obtain coverage for damages to a vessel under the care, custody and control of Block Marina, it was necessary for Block to obtain separate marine operator's insurance. Up until 1984 Block Marina had done this and then at the time of the premium increase the coverage was voluntarily eliminated by Block (R 162 B). The marina operators endorsement to the policy provided bailment insurance and was designed to pay, on behalf of the insured, the amount the insured was legally liable to pay for loss or damage to a ship that was

in its care and control for repairs. The endorsement had provided for \$150,000 worth of coverage for commercial vessels. Disputed evidence was that the endorsement was voluntarily eliminated by Block and was not in effect at the time a loss occurred in this case (R 162 B).

The facts leading up to the coverage dispute were that Norfolk bought a ship called the Tigress, which needed repairs to make it sea worthy (R 62). Norfolk brought the ship to Block Marina to obtain an estimate for the cost of repairs and in mid June 1984 entered into a verbal contract with Block to make these repairs (R 63). Norfolk put down a deposit of approximately \$25,000 towards the satisfaction of the contract and Block Marina agreed to have the work completed within 89 days (R 63). However the ship was allegedly not properly or completely repaired by Block Marina and it was asserted that the work was performed in a defective manner and with substandard quality (R 64-65). In addition the vessel was not protected from thieves and apparently some items were stolen from the ship while in the custody of the Marina and the money deposited by Norfolk was used by Block for something other than repairs to the Tigress (R 63). In February 1985 Norfolk took control of the Tigress and removed it from Block Marina and subsequently the repairs were completed (R 64).

Norfolk then sued Block Marina for breach of contract, fraud, theft and negligence for failing to properly repair the ship (R 1-4). In August 1985 AIU was notified that Norfolk had a claim against Block relating to the damages done to the Tigress

(R 78-79). At this point the insurance company informed Block Marina, that under the comprehensive general insurance policy, the counts of fraud, statutory theft and the demand for punitive damages were not normally covered (R 78). In this letter AIU specifically stated that it was providing a full defense for all the allegations in the law suit, while simultaneously reserving the right to review their insurance policy and to make any determinations of coverage issues (R 78-79). The letter also notes that a defense was being provided to Block Marina under the negligence count which would be covered by the standard insurance policy (R 78).

In January 1987 AIU notified Gulfstream Marine Insurance (the agent who obtained coverage for Block Marina), that upon reviewing that damages and the coverage for the Norfolk claim, AIU determined that the marina operators Legal liability endorsement had been eliminated by Block Marina effective June 4, 1984 (R 162B). Therefore there was no coverage for any damages to the Tigress. Gulfstream responded to this letter by disagreeing with AIU as to the existence of coverage for the loss to the Tigress, alleging that the ship was delivered to Block Marina on June 1, which was prior to the effective date of the elimination of the bailment coverage on June 4, 1984 (R 162 C). AIU wrote Block Marina on March 20, 1986 informing it that the liability endorsement was eliminated on June 4, 1984 and therefore there was no coverage for the alleged negligence in the repairs, which repairs were not contracted for until subsequent to June 11, 1984 (R 72; 80).

On April 15, 1986 Gulfstream then filed a claim on behalf of Block Marina under a different coverage portion of the comprehensive general liability policy (R 162 E-K). This time it was seeking coverage for the damages under the independent contractor's liability portion of the policy.

AIU responded to the re-filed claim by again noting that there was no coverage, as the comprehensive general liability policy contained a care custody and control exclusion and that in order to have coverage for the property of others in the care of Block Marina, Block would have had to have maintained its marina operators legal liability endorsement, which it voluntarily eliminated effective June 4, 1984 (R 162 L). AIU's attorneys then withdrew as counsel of record for Block and Block Marina retained independent counsel (R 49). Block then entered into a consent Final Judgment with Norfolk Marine for \$125,000; which was the result of a settlement agreement between the parties, in which Block Marina assigned its rights against its insurer AIU to Norfolk Marine, in exchange for an agreement never to enforce the consent judgment against Block Marina.

A Declaratory Judgment action was brought by Block Marina and Norfolk, as Intervenor/Plaintiff, against AIU to enforce coverage and satisfaction of the settlement amount plus punitive damages, interest and attorneys' fees (R 1-4; 13-14). Norfolk Marine then moved for a Summary Judgment based solely on the allegation that AIU failed to comply with the provisions of Florida Law Statute Sections 627.426(2) (1985) (R 47-81). The allegation was based on the fact that when AIU sent out its

reservation of rights letter in August of 1985, Norfolk claimed that AIU should have, at that time, asserted the fact that there was no coverage (R 50). Notice was sent to Block Marina on March 20, 1986 that there was no coverage and no duty to defend.

Norfolk in its Motion for Summary Judgment alleged that this notice should have been sent within the 60 days statutory period and since it was not AIU was estopped from denying coverage as a matter of law (R 50).

In response to the Motion For Summary Judgment AIU filed the Affidavit of Carlton Dunn, an insurance expert, who had reviewed the contract and the entire investigative file of AIU and determined that the Block Marina policy afforded no coverage for the loss or damage complained of by Norfolk Marine (R 100-162). In addition it was the expert opinion of Mr. Dunn that since Block Marina had not breached any of the terms of its insurance policy there was no reason for AIU to assert a "coverage defense" as contemplated by Section 627.426 (R 101). In other words since there was never any coverage for the claim brought by Norfolk Marine there was no obligation to comply with the statutory requirements.

AIU asserted that there were fact questions precluding Summary Judgment, such as exactly when the Marina took care, custody and control of the Tigress and the fact that there were numerous opinions as to whether or not there was coverage under the policy. The trial court entered Summary Judgment against AIU, but did not set forth any findings of fact, as to why AIU was responsible for the consent Final Judgment entered into

between Norfolk Marina and Block Marine. However the only basis asserted by Norfolk in its Summary Judgment Motion was that AIU was estopped to deny coverage because of its failure to comply with 627.426.

AIU filed its Notice of Appeal, since it is well established in Florida law that coverage by estoppel is barred in this state and compliance with Florida Statute section 627.426 is not required when there was never any coverage in the inceptions. a 2-1 decision the Third District affirmed the Summary Judgment in favor of Norfolk; stating that there was no compelling reason to preserve the decisional law against coverage by estoppel and held that even though there was no coverage available for the loss, AIU was strictly liable for the eliminated coverage because it failed to comply with 627.426. Recognizing that this holding was in direct conflict with the Fifth District's decision in USF&G v. American Fire the case was certified to the this Court for resolution. It is respectfully submitted that the Fifth District's interpretation of the statute, and the rationale put forth in the dissent in the Opinion below, are legally correct and that the Summary Judgment for Norfolk must be reversed and entered for AIU.

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Third District's majority Opinion below has erroneously held that the legislature intended in Section 627.426(2), to create insurance coverage by estoppel, under a liability policy that did not provide such coverage. It is respectfully submitted that the Fifth District has correctly interpreted the legislative intent of that statute, in USF&G v. American Fire, infra. Opinion below, which is in direct conflict with American Fire, must be reversed. It is undisputed that prior to the adoption of Section 627.426(2), insurance coverage could not be created under the principles of waiver and estoppel and there is no indication whatsoever that the legislature intended to overrule this well established principle. However in contrast to the legislative intent, as construed by the Fifth District Court of Appeal, the Third District has stated that the clear and unambiguous language of the statute imposes strict liability upon AIU to provide insurance coverage because of its failure to comply with the claim administration statute's requirements. Furthermore, the Third District has found no compelling reason to preserve the whole body of law which prohibits the creation of coverage by estoppel.

To apply this statute as construed by the Third District, results in a constitutional impairment of contracts, since the court's interpretation of the statute has changed the substantive rights of the parties to the insurance contract, which is impermissible. In this case it was undisputed that Block Marina voluntarily eliminated the bailment insurance coverage prior to the

time that it entered into the contract with Norfolk Marine to repair the ship. Therefore at the time of the loss no coverage existed. As the Fifth District has correctly stated, an insurer does not assert a "coverage defense" when there is no coverage in the first place. The Opinion below holding AIU strictly liable for coverage must be reversed and a Summary Judgment entered for AIU.

The Opinion must be reversed because: (1) Florida law clearly bars estoppel by coverage; (2) Section 627.426 does not apply where there is no insurance coverage for the loss claimed; (3) to hold AIU strictly liable for insurance coverage for failing to comply with the claim administration statute, thus creating coverage by estoppel, is an unconstitutional impairment of the insurance contract; and (4) at the very least the Summary Judgment in the case must be reversed where the Third District Opinion states there are disputed issues regarding whether the policy provided coverage for the loss. One or all of the above stated reasons are sufficient to require reversal of the Summary Judgment and the entry of a Judgment in favor of AIU, or remand of the case for a factual determination of the issues regarding the insurance coverage.

WHERE AN INSURED VOLUNTARY ELIMINATED COVERAGE IT IS LEGALLY IMPERMISSIBLE TO RESURRECT THAT COVERAGE BY HOLDING THAT THE FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH 627.426 ESTOPS THE INSURER FROM DENYING THE ELIMINATED COVERAGE; AND THE APPLICATION OF STATUTORY ESTOPPEL IN THIS CASE IS AN UNCONSTITUTIONAL IMPAIRMENT OF THE INSURANCE CONTRACT.

The Third District has held AIU strictly liable for insurance coverage which was expressly and voluntarily eliminated by the insured, because AIU failed to comply with the requirements of section 627.426. The Opinion below must be reversed because: (1) Florida law clearly bars estoppel by coverage; (2) Section 627.426 does not apply where there is no insurance coverage for the loss claimed; (3) to hold AIU strictly liable for insurance coverage for failing to comply with 627.426, thus creating coverage by estoppel, is a unconstitutional impairment of insurance contract and (4) at the very least Summary Judgment in this case was clearly improper where the Third District Opinion states that there are disputed issues regarding whether the policy provided coverage for the loss. One or all of the above stated reasons are sufficient to require reversal of the Summary Judgment and the entry of a Summary Judgment in favor of AIU or remand of the case so that a jury may determine the factual issues raised regarding insurance coverage.

# 1. Coverage by Estoppel Not Permitted in Florida

In this case it was conceded that under the decisional law in effect prior to the adoption of F.S.A. 627.426(2), insurance coverage may <u>not</u> be afforded under general principles of waiver or estoppel. <u>AIU Insurance Company v. Block Marina Investments</u>

Inc., 12 F.L.W. 2311, 2312 (Fla. 3d DCA September 22, 1987). is well established in current Florida law that a party cannot create insurance coverage by estoppel because coverage by estoppel is not permitted. Six L's Packing Co. v. Florida Farm Bureau Mutual Insurance Co., 276 So.2d 37 (Fla. 1973); American States Insurance Company v. McGuire, 12 F.L.W. 1972 (Fla. 1st DCA August 13, 1987) (we note that in the onset it is undisputed that, as a general principle, the doctrines of waiver and estoppel are not available to extend the coverage of an insurance policy to create a primary liability); Campbell v. Prudential Insurance Co., 480 So.2d 666 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985); Doyle v. State Farm Mutual Automobile Insurance Co., 464 So.2d 1277 (Fla. 3d DCA 1985); Kramer v. United States Automobile Association, 436 So.2d 935 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983); Starlight Services Inc. v. Prudential Insurance Company of America, 418 So.2d 305 (Fla. 5th DCA), petition for rev. dismissed, 421 So.2d 518 (Fla. 1982).

The reason that a party cannot create coverage by estoppel is that the doctrines of estoppel and waiver are applied only to the grounds of forfeiture of an insurance policy and do not apply to matters of insurance coverage. Six L's Packing, supra;

Hayston v. Allstate Insurance Company, 290 So.2d 67 (Fla. 3d DCA 1974); Kaimner v. Franklin Life Insurance Company, 472 F.2d 1073 (5th Cir. 1973).

In Six L's Packing Company, this court adopted the opinion of the Fourth District as its own and found for the insurer on the issue of estoppel. One of the questions in that case was whether the doctrines of waiver and estoppel apply to matters of

insurance coverage. In finding that estoppel by coverage is <u>not</u> permitted this Court stated:

The general rule is well established that the doctrine of waiver and estoppel based upon the conduct or actions of the insurer (or his agent) is not applicable to matters of coverage as distinguished from grounds of forfeiture. In other words, while an insurer may be estopped by its conduct from seeking a forfeiture of a policy, the insurers coverage or restrictions on the coverage cannot be extended by the doctrine of waiver and estoppel. (Citations omitted; Court's emphasis)

## Six L's, 563.

The rationale for the rule that waiver and estoppel are not applicable to matters of coverage was succinctly restated in <a href="Uni-Jax Inc. v. Factory Insurance Association">Uni-Jax Inc. v. Factory Insurance Association</a>, 328 So.2d 448, 455 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976):

While waiver and estoppel have been held applicable to nearly every area in which an insurer may deny liability, the courts of most jurisdictions agree that these concepts are not available to broaden the coverage of a policy so as to protect the insured against risks not included therein or expressly excluded therefrom. The theory underlying this rule seems to be that the company should not be required by waiver and estoppel to pay a loss for which it charged no premium, and the principle has been announced in scores of cases involving almost every conceivable type of policy or coverage provision thereof.

## Uni-Jax at 455.

This doctrine barring the application of estoppel clearly applies to facts below where the marine legal liability endorsement would have covered the claims brought by Norfolk Marine, was voluntarily eliminated from the policy by Block Marina effective June 4, 1984. Applying the above rationale it

is clear that AIU cannot be required by estoppel, to pay for the loss for which there was no coverage, for which it charged no premium, for which Block paid no premium.

The doctrines of waiver and estoppel are not applicable to matters of coverage, as distinguished from grounds for forfeiture under an insurance policy, and this law is so well established in Florida that it has been embraced by every District Court in addition to this Court. Six L's Packing, supra; Uni-Jax, supra; Manicare Corporation v. First State Insurance Company, 374 So.2d 1100 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979); Radoff v. North American Co. For Life & Health Ins., 358 So.2d 1138 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978); Starlight Services, supra. In light of this decisional law, it was conceded below that prior to the adoption of section F.S.A. 627.426(2) (1985) insurance coverage could not be afforded under principles of waiver or estoppel. It was on this basis that the Dissenting Opinion below stated that the legislature is presumed to know not only the law but also that the courts will construe their acts, not only by legal effect, but by language employed to manifest their intention. Based on the language of the statute, Judge Nesbitt stated that it was plain that the legislature did not intend to completely abolish the rule of law that insurance coverage cannot be created by waiver or estoppel. Therefore it was unnecessary to determine what the legislature intended, since the statute was irrelevant. Block, 2312.

Judge Nesbitt found that the law as stated in the Fifth District's Opinion of United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. American Fire and Indemnity Co., 12 F.L.W. 1736 (Fla. 5th DCA

July 16, 1987) was the correct legislative interpretation and would have reversed the Summary Judgment entered against AIU.

The Opinion below finds that the statutory language "to deny coverage based on a particular coverage defense" to be unambiguous. Block, 2311. The majority then goes on to find no compelling reason to wholly preserve the judicially created prohibition against coverage by estoppel and allows Block Marina to recover for a loss for which it paid no premium and for which it had expressly voluntarily eliminatedy coverage. This finding of course is in direct conflict with the majority in American Fire.

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