IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 71,264

AIU INSURANCE COMPANY, a foreign corporation,

Petitioner,

vs.

BLOCK MARINA INVESTMENTS, INC., a Florida corp. d/b/a FLORIDA YACHT BASIN, NORFOLK MARINE COMPANY, a foreign corp. authorized to do business in the State of Florida,

Respondent,

NORFOLK MARINE CO., a foreign corp.,

Intervenor/Respondent.

DEC & JOSEPH COUNTY BY

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT NORFOLK MARINE COMPANY

PAYTON AND RACHLIN, P.A. 1810 New World Tower 100 N. Biscayne Blvd. Miami, FL 33132 (305) 371-3777

INTRODUCTION

Petitioner, AIU Insurance Company, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the Third District proceeding. Respondents, Block Marina Investment, Inc. d/b/a Florida Yacht Basin, and Norfolk Marine Company, were plaintiff and intervening plaintiff in the trial court and appellees in the proceeding before the Third District Court of Appeal.

Throughout this brief AIU Insurance Company will be referred to as Petitioner or AIU, interchangeably; Norfolk Marine Company will be referred to as Norfolk or Respondent; and Block Marina Investment, Inc. will be referred to as Block or Respondent.

The symbol "R" will be used to refer to the record on appeal. The symbol "A" will be used to refer to the appendix to the brief, and the symbol "P.B." will be used to refer to petitioner's brief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

There is no direct and express conflict of decisions of District Court of Appeal and therefore no basis to invoke this Court's jurisdiction. Accordingly, this matter is beyond of the scope of this Court's review and the Court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

The Third District properly affirmed the decision of the trial court prohibiting an insurer from denying coverage for its failure to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section 627.426(2), Florida Statutes (1985).

The language and requirements of the statute are clear and unambiguous. AIU undisputedly failed to comply with notice requirements of the statute. AIU failed to notify Block of its refusal to defend within sixty (60) days of its reservation letter as required by the statute. AIU's notification to Block that it was refusing to defend came on March 20, 1986, 205 days after the date of its reservation letter and within two weeks of trial. AIU's blatant failure to comply with the mandatory provisions of Fla. Stat. 627.426 precludes it from denying coverage, as a matter of law. The decisions of the trial and appellate court must be approved.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent objects to Petitioner's statement of the case and facts the extent that it is misleading, incomplete, unsubstantiated otherwise and inaccurate. Accordingly, Respondent submits the following facts as relevant to this Court's determination of: a) whether this Court should accept jurisdiction over this cause and, if so; b) whether the Third District properly affirmed the decision of the trial court prohibiting an insurer from denying coverage for its failure to comply with the mandatory requirements of Section 627.426(2), Florida Statutes (1985).

JURISDICTIONAL FACTS

Petitioner has sought the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court based upon its assertion that the Third District certified its decision to this Court as being in <u>direct</u> conflict with the Fifth District's decision in <u>United States Fidelity and Guarantee Co. v. Amer. Fire and Indem. Co.</u>, 511 So.2d 624 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987) (P.B. 8) (A 60)

Pursuant to Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(2), the discretionary jurisdiction of the Supreme Court may be sought to review:

A) decisions of district courts of appeal that: (vi) are certified to be in <u>direct conflict</u> with decisions of other district courts of appeal; (Emphasis added) Contrary to Petitioner's contention, the Third District did not expressly certify its decision as being in direct conflict with a decision of another district court of appeal. In fact, the majority opinion only noted in a footnote, that: "We certify the case as possibly in conflict with United States Fidelity and Guaranty Co. v. American Fire and Indemnity Co., 511 So.2d 624" (Emphasis added)

The body of the opinion <u>expressly</u> distinguished the facts and issues of the instant case from the facts, issues and decision of the Fifth District case as follows:

We agree with the appellees that this case is distinguishable from the fifth district case. Here there was a contract of insurance in effect between the parties and there was also, obviously, a legitimate question as to whether the policy provided coverage for the loss. In <u>United States Fidelity and Guarantee</u> the court held, essentially, that there is no coverage issue where there is no policy. The question in this case is whether the policy covers a specific loss. (Emphasis added) id. at 1119.

Accordingly, there is no <u>direct</u> conflict of decisions; no direct and express certification thereof; and otherwise no basis to invoke this Court's jurisdiction.

This Court may only review a decision of a district court of appeal that expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another district court of appeal. <u>Jenkins v. State</u>, 385 So.2d 1356, 1359 (Fla. 1980); Article V,3(b), Fla. Const; Fla. R. App. 9.030(a)(2)(a)(iv). The only facts relevant to the Supreme Court's decision to accept or reject such petitions are those

facts contained within the four corners of the decisions allegedly in conflict. Reaves v. State, 485 So.2d 829, 830 n.3 (Fla. 1986). The facts and finding contained within the four corners of the decisions of the Third and Fifth Districts reflect that there is no express or direct conflict therein. Accordingly, this matter is beyond the scope of this Court's review and the Court should decline to accept jurisdiction.

FACTS

Petitioner should be noted that it Initially mischaracterized and misstated the facts and findings of the Petitioner incorrectly states that Third District's decision. the Third District... "held that even though there was no coverage available for the loss; AIU was strictly liable eliminated coverage because it failed to comply with 627.426" (P.B. 8) A review of the Opinion reflects a contrary finding. The decision specifically states that "here there was a contract of insurance in effect between the parties and there was also, obviously, a legitimate question a to whether the policy provided coverage for the loss." Id. at 1119

Accordingly, Respondent submits the following statement of the case and facts as relevant to this Court's determination. The factual history of this matter reflects that there were no genuine issues of material fact in dispute and that a Summary Judgment was properly entered in favor of Norfolk and Block and against AIU for failure to comply with the mandatory notice requirements of Section 627.426(2) Florida Statutes (1985).

UNDISPUTED FACTS

- 1. In 1983, AIU issued Block Marina Co., the insured, a comprehensive general liability policy which contained a marina operator's legal liability endorsement. The policy had coverage dates from June 4, 1983 through June 4, 1986. Effective June 4, 1984 the marina operator's legal liability endorsement was eliminated from the policy. However, coverages under the policy that remained in effect through 1986 included: comprehensive general liability, products-completed operations, independent contractors liability and premises-operations.
- 2. Block purchased the policy from AIU through Robert W. Altemus ("Altemus") of Gulfstream Marine Insurance, Inc. ("Gulfstream"). Gulfstream and Altemus were duly licensed and authorized to represent AIU and to place insurance coverage for AIU as fully set forth in the license and letter agreement hereto. (R-52-54) (A 10-12).
- 3. In June, 1984, Block contracted with Norfolk Marine to repair Norfolk's ship, the Tigress. Thereafter, a claim arose out of the alleged negligence of Block in the custody and repair of the Tigress.
- 4. On June 12, 1985, Gulfstream gave written notification under the policy that a claim had been made against Block by Norfolk pertaining to the Tigress (R 55) (A 13).
- 5. AIU acknowledged receipt of the claim (demand letter) and created a file dated June 18, 1984 for the Norfolk claim under the policy. (R 56) (A 14)
 - 6. In late July, 1985, Norfolk filed suit against Block for

damages to the Tigress.

- 7. By letter of August 3, 1985, Block notified Gulfstream of the complaint and Gulfstream reported the complaint and forwarded same to AIU (R 57-76) (A 15-35).
- 8. AIU wrote Block on August 27, 1985 informing Block that AIU would provide a defense in the matter "due to the fact that the count of negligence comes under your insurance policy." (Emphasis added) AIU further advised that the claims of fraud, statutory theft and punitive damages "are not normally covered under insurance policies." Therefore, AIU specifically agreed to provide a full defense for all counts of the complaint while reserving its rights to review the insurance policy to make any determination of coverage issues. AIU noted that it would obtain separate counsel to investigate, evaluate and determine any and all coverage defenses under the policy and "upon their review and determination of their position in this matter, they will advise you accordingly with Florida Statutes." (Emphasis added) (R 78-79) (A 36-37). AIU then retained the law offices of Richard K., Owens to defend Block.
- 9. On August 21, 1985, the law firm of Richard Owens served an answer to the complaint and defended the lawsuit on behalf of Block for over <u>seven</u> (7) months during which time numerous depositions were taken, discovery exchanged and the matter otherwise prepared for trial.
- 10. By letter of January 29, 1986 T.V. Heslin of AIU notified Altemus of Gulfstream that it appeared that Block's loss

was not covered by AIU's policy. (R 162-B) (A 41) AIU asserted two reasons for the lack of coverage: first, that the marina operator's legal liability had been eliminated from the coverage effective June 4, 1984; second, that an exclusion under the general liability policy excluded the subject claim from any coverage. The relevant portions of the letter are as follows:

"...This will confirm my telephone call to you from January 21, 1986 wherein I advised you that I had checked the coverage on the captioned matter. In checking with the underwriting department, I learned that the marina operator's legal liability...had been eliminated from the coverage effective June 4, 1984.

It is apparent that the insured's contract to repair the vessel Tigress" was entered into with the Plaintiff subsequent to this date. Therefore it <u>would</u> <u>appear</u> that this loss is not covered by the insured's policy, AIU-X-426-87-25.

The care, custody and control, <u>exclusion</u> under the general liability policy would eliminate any coverage for this vessel while it was in the marine repair agency of the insured.

We are sending a copy of this letter to our attorney, Owens & Tuter. We will not advise our insured until you have an opportunity to do so. In the event that you wish us to send a letter directly to the insured in the matter, we will direct one from this office. (Emphasis added)

Heslin's denial of coverage (R 162C-162D) (A 42-43). Altemus advised AIU that the claim was covered under the marina operator's legal liability endorsement as well as the remaining policy provisions, including Products/Completed Operations Liability coverage as well as the Broad Form Comprehensive General Liability Endorsement and the Broad Form Property Damage

Liability coverage.

12. Mr. Altemus' letter to AIU states in relevant part:

I am writing in reply to your letter of January 29, 1986. As I have mentioned to you in our telephone conversations I do not agree with the reasons for which you have denied coverage.

First, the claimant's yacht "Tigress" was delivered to our assured on June 1, 1984 at which time form number IMD 335 (Marine Operator's legal liability) was still part of the policy. This date comes from B&S Marine who performed the initial investigations on your behalf.

Second, we filed the claim for our insured under the Product/Completed Operations Liability coverage parts. Such coverage is part of the policy and I do not see how the assured could perform an operation (maintenance and/or repair) to the yacht without having it in his case, custody, or control.

Third, the policy includes the Board Form Comprehensive General Liability Endorsement (Form number AIU-11(11/79). Under the Broad Form Property Damage Liability coverage (including Completed Operations) part of this endorsement exclusion K of the DGL form AIU-X-306 (4-73) is deleted and replaced with different wording.

Please review these points in view of the fact that there is current litigation against our insured in this matter. I would appreciate your earliest response...

- 13. On March 13, 1986 the trial court issued its order for pretrial conference and set the trial of the cause for the two-week period commencing April 4, 1986.
- 14. By letter of March 20, 1986, two (2) weeks before the trial date, AIU notified Block that AIU was denying coverage for the Norfolk claim and advised their attorneys, Owens and Tutor, that they would not pay the continued cost of defense of the litigation between Norfolk and Block. (R 80-81) (A 38-39)

The March 20, 1986 letter states in relevant part:

The Marina Operators Legal Liability coverage afforded by policy AIU-X-246-87-25 was eliminated on June 4, 1984. This would have been the coverage necessary to insure your liability for alleged negligence in the handling of the property of others in your care.

The allegations in the complaint indicate that your firm and Norfolk Marine did not contract for repairs to the vessel, "Tigress" until subsequent to June 11, 1984.

We, therefore, are going to advise attorneys, Owen & Tuter, that we will not pay the continued cost of defense of the litigation arising from suit #85-30774, Dade County, Florida. We suggest you make arrangements for the continued defense with counsel of your choosing at your own costs. (Emphasis added.)

- 15. AIU withdrew their defense. Block retained his own counsel, Leesfield and Blackburn, P.A. and a consent final judgment was entered into on July 1, 1986. (R 20-23) (A 1-4).
- 16. On April 15, 1986 Altemus again demanded coverage and resubmitted a claim for Block under the independent contractors provision of the policy (R 162E-162K) (A 44-50). By letter of April 23, 1986 (R 162L) (A 51) Mr. Heslin again denied the insured's demand for coverage under an exclusion of the existing policy as follows:

Regardless of the insured's coverage for liability arising from the work of independent contractors, there is no coverage in this instance. The lack of coverage arises from the care, custody and control exclusion in the policy issued to the insured. (Emphasis added)

17. Based upon the foregoing record, Norfolk and Block moved for a summary judgment claiming that AIU failed to timely comply with the mandatory requirements of Section 627.426(2) and

was therefore not permitted to deny coverage.

AIU denied coverage on March 20, 1986 based upon "the allegations in the complaint" that allegedly indicated that the acts complained of occurred after the marina operator's legal liability endorsement was eliminated. AIU also raised untimely coverage defenses based upon exclusions under the existing policies. AIU knew or should have known of these coverage defenses when it received the complaint, over seven (7) months earlier on August 5, 1985. Actually, AIU knew or should have known of these coverage defenses including any "eliminated coverages" nine (9) months earlier on June 18, 1984 when AIU created a claim file under the policy for the Norfolk claim. AIU's reservation letter of August 27, 1985 failed to assert these coverage defenses which it knew or should have known of in contravention of Fla.Stat. 627.426(a). Furthermore, assuming the reservation letter was sufficient, AIU failed to notify Block of its refusal to defend within sixty (60) days of the reservation letter as required by Florida Statute 627.426(2)(b)(1). AIU's notification to Block that it was refusing to defend came of March 20, 1985, two hundred & five (205) days after the date of its reservation letter and two weeks before trial. Accordingly, AIU's blatant failure to comply with the provisions of Florida Statute 627.426 precludes it from denying coverage, as a matter of law. The trial court properly entered Summary Judgment and the Third District properly affirmed same.

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT PROPERLY AFFIRMED THE JUDGMENT OF THE TRIAL COURT PROHIBITING AN INSURER FROM DENYING COVERAGE FOR ITS FAILURE TO COMPLY WITH THE MANDATORY REQUIREMENTS OF SECTION 627.426(2) FLORIDA STATUTES (1985).

The sole issue on this appeal is whether the trial and appellate court were correct in determining that AIU failed to comply with the mandatory provisions of Section 627.426(2).

Section 627.426(2) provides:

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